IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC03-1203

BRUCE EDWARD COMMITTE,

Petitioner/Appellant

VS.

THE FLORIDA BAR

Respondent/Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE REFEREE'S FINDING OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

T.F.B. FILE NO. 2002-01, 100(A) HONORABLE MICHAEL C. OVERSTREET Referee

PETITIONER'S FIRST AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

BRUCE COMMITTE, ESQUIRE 17 South Palafox Place, Suite 306 Pensacola, FL 32502 (850) 439-1999 Florida Bar No. 797502 PRO SE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRUCE EDWARD COMMITTE,

Petitioner,

v. C	ase No. SC03-1203			
THE FLORIDA BAR,	FB File No. 2002-01,100(A)			
Respondent.				
PETITONER'S FIRST AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF				
I. Table of Con	ntents

III. Introduction

Now comes Petitioner, Bruce Committe, Florida Bar Member, Pro Se, and files this Initial Brief following his filing of a Petition for Review of The Referee's Finding of Fact and Conclusions of Law signed 2 April 2004. Exhibit A/1 to A/10. The Referee's Report is Unlawful and Erroneous for the reasons stated below, and should be reversed. Florida Bar Rule 3-7.7(5).

IV. Statement of Jurisdiction

This court has jurisdiction pursuant to Florida Bar Rule 3-7.7(a)(1) which states: "All reports of a referee and all judgments entered in proceedings under these rules shall be subject to review by the Supreme Court of Florida."

V Standard of Review

The standard of review for this court is denovo in determining whether the

Referee's Report on the Complaint¹ (Exhibit B/1 to B/33) is lawful.

The standard of review for this court in determining whether the Referee erred in reaching his findings of facts and conclusions of law is whether the record includes competent and substantial evidence to support the proposition that the Referee reached his conclusions with proof that was clear and convincing. The Florida Bar re Walter Benton Dunagan, 775 So.2d 959 (Fla 2000); The Florida Bar v. J.B. Hooper, 509 so.2d 289 (Fla 1987).

VI Statement of the Facts

The Bar's Complaint arises out of Petitioner's Pro Se conduct in two civil cases brought in Florida and federal trial courts respectively. In those two cases, the Petitioner invoked the protections and privileges afforded him by provisions of the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), 15 UC 1692c(c)² and 15

¹The Complaint has attached to it as exhibit's the following: 1. Order Adjudicating Defendant in Contempt of Court and Order of Commitment (Exhibit B/10), 2. Order [of federal court granting defendant Guttmann's motion for summary judgment] (Exhibit B/12), 3. Order [of federal court denying Petitioner's motion for new trial and show of cause why Rule 11 sanctions are not proper] (Exhibit B/24), and 4. Order [of federal court taxing costs and defendant's attorney's fees to Petitioner] (Exhibit B/29).

² If a consumer notifies a debt collector in writing that the consumer refuses to pay a debt or that the consumer wishes the debt collector to cease further communication with the consumer, the debt collector shall not communicate further with the consumer with respect to such debt, except-- (1) to advise the consumer that the debt collector's further efforts are being terminated; (2) to notify the consumer that the

USC 1692c(b),³ (Exhibit I) and the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act (FCCPA), Fla. Stat. 559.72(7), clause 2 (Exhibit J).⁴ The Bar Complaint alleges, generally, that Petitioner's actions in these two cases violated Florida Bar Rules. Exhibit B/1 to B/33.

The first case was a county court debt collection case, Escambia County, Florida (Judge G. J. Roark III), wherein Petitioner was defending himself--against an attorney consumer debt collector, Stephen Guttmann, who was attempting to collect a post-judgment consumer debt of the Petitioner--by invoking the protections and privileges afforded Petitioner by the plain language of the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), in particular 15 USC 1692c(c) (Exhibit I). See text in footnote 2 supra. Petitioner invoked that section of the

debt collector or creditor may invoke specified remedies which are ordinarily invoked by such debt collector or creditor; or (3) where applicable, to notify the consumer that the debt collector or creditor intends to invoke a specified remedy. If such notice from the consumer is made by mail, notification shall be complete upon receipt."

³ "Except as provided in section 1692b of this title, without the prior consent of the consumer given directly to the debt collector, or the express permission of a court of competent jurisdiction or as reasonably necessary to effectuate a post-judgment judicial remedy, a debt collector may not communicate, in connection with the collection of any debt, with any person other than the consumer, his attorney, a consumer reporting agency if otherwise permitted by law, the creditor, the attorney of the creditor or the attorney of the debt collector." Emphasis added.

⁴ "No person shall…willfully engage in other conduct which can reasonably be expected to abuse or harass the debtor or any member of his family."

FDCPA by motioning the county court for a series of protective orders to prevent the attorney debt collector from taking Petitioner's deposition in aid of execution of a money judgment. The invocation for this purpose was novel and a case of first impression in the U.S. Petitioner reasonably believed these motions stayed the depositions until the motions were heard and ruled upon. The Florida Bar and the Referee consider Petitioner's non-appearances at the scheduled depositions, notwithstanding Petitioner's filing of motions for protective orders prior to the time noticed for the depositions, to be violations of the Florida Bar Rules.

The second case was a complaint filed by the Petitioner in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Florida, Pensacola Division (Judge Roger Vinson) against attorney debt collector Stephen Guttmann in the county case for various alleged violations of the FDCPA while the debt collector was otherwise attempting to collect Petitioner's post-judgment consumer debt. Judge Vinson was unsympathetic with Petitioner's claims and stated that the complaint brought in his federal court was frivolous, nonmeritorious, and brought for the purpose of abuse and harassment of the consumer debt collector whom Petitioner had alleged, pursuant to the FDCPA, had abused and harassed him. Judge Vinson filed a Rule

11 sanctions order against the Petitioner for bringing the case in his court. Exhibit B/27. The sanction fee paid was \$15,382.50. Exhibit B/31.

Stephen Guttmann reported Judge Vinson's order to the Florida Bar, and the latter used it as the basis for filing the Bar Complaint in this case. Judge Vinson's order had made reference to Petitioner's series of motions for protective orders filed in the county court case, and made negative comments as to Petitioner's Pro Se conduct in the county court case.⁵

After a one and one half day final hearing, the Referee found in favor of the Bar respecting most of its allegations, and he recommended the sanction of a private reprimand. The Bar filed a motion for rehearing, but later withdrew it.

Since Petitioner filed his Petition for Review with this court, the Florida Bar has returned fire, which is its right, with its own Petition for Counterclaim seeking, among other matters, the much harsher sanction of a 91 day suspension.

VII. Statement of the Issues

All of the matters in this Petition center on Bar proceedings leading up to

⁵ In Judge Vinson's order on Petitioner's motion for rehearing, Judge Vinson withdrew his negative comments about petitioner's conduct in county court apparently because he recognized that those matters were not properly before him in his court.

the filing of the Bar Complaint as well as happenings after the filing of the Bar Complaint including a one and one-half day final hearing before the Referee. The Complaint appears⁶ to allege that Petitioner violated Bar Rules of Conduct when he (1) invoked in county civil court, in multiple motions for a protective order, 15 USC 1692c(c) (Fair Debt Collection Practices Act--FDCPA) (text in footnote 2 supra, also at Exhibit I) as a privilege allowing him not to have to submit to a deposition in aid of execution of a civil money judgment to collect a consumer debt and (2) filed complaints in U.S. District Court against debt collector attorney Stephen Guttmann based on 15 USC 1692c(b) and (c) of the FDCPA and on Fla. Stat. 559.72(7) of the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act (FCCPA) (Exhibit J).⁷

The issues raised in this Petition are:

A. Whether as a matter of law the manner in which the Complaint was brought against the Petitioner in this case violated Florida Statute 286.011 (public

⁶ The Complaint does not connect the allegations of conduct with the individual rules such conduct allegedly violated. This was raised in a motion to dismiss for insufficiency of the complaint (Exhibit E/1) which the Referee denied and which denial is raised before this court in issue #1.

⁷ Stephen Guttmann is the attorney who complained of Petitioner's conduct which is the basis for the Bar's Complaint in this case.

meetings law) and otherwise denied Petitioner due process rights guaranteed him by the Florida and U.S. Constitutions.

- B. Whether as a matter of law the failure of the Complaint to connect allegations of Petitioner's conduct with particular alleged Bar Rule prohibitions caused the Complaint to be insufficient and thereby deny Petitioner due process of law.
- C. Whether there is competent and sufficient evidence in the record to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Petitioner violated any Bar Rule when he relied on his own Pro Se protective order motions and 15 USC 1692c(c) for authority not to have to appear at depositions in aid of execution of a civil money judgment against him.
- D. Whether there is competent and sufficient evidence in the record to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Petitioner violated any Bar Rule when he filed claims of first impression in U.S. District Court relying on the plain language of 15 USC 1692c(c) and (d) and Fla Stat 559.72(7), clause 2 against an attorney consumer debt collector for debt collection abuse and harassment prohibited by these statutes.

VIII. Summary of Argument

With respect to issue A, a Florida Bar disciplinary committee met in private session to discuss the preliminary complaint in this case filed by a member of the Florida Bar against the Petitioner. Bar Counsel specifically informed the Petitioner that the meeting was closed to him. The meeting also was not noticed to others nor was it open to the public nor was the meeting reported so that a transcript could be made. This was a violation of Fla Stat 286.011 which requires that meetings under the authority of the State of Florida shall be open to the public, and it thereby denied Petitioner due process of Florida law.

With respect to issue B, the Bar's Complaint was insufficient in that it failed to connect the conduct it apparently intends to allege is wrong to the Bar Rule prohibitions stated at the end of the complaint. This lack of connection is a critical defect of the information which significantly prejudiced Petitioner's ability to defend himself.

With respect to issue C, the evidence shows that Petitioner's nonappearance at scheduled depositions was based on a lawful privilege <u>arguably</u> granted him by 15 USC 1692c(c) and further that such nonappearances were preceded by Petitioner filing motions for protective orders based on that privilege and

eventually on the privilege of an automatic stay granted him by the U.S. bankruptcy law.

With respect to issue D, the Referee failed to recognize, Judge Vinson's order notwithstanding, that the cases brought in Federal court against attorney debt collector Guttmann were (1) based on the plain language of 15 USC 1692c(c), (d), and Fla Stat 559.72(7), clause 2, (2) cases of first impression in the U.S. 11th Circuit, and (3) supported elsewhere by a dissenting judge on a three judge U.S. 6th Circuit court panel which panel was the only federal panel ever to have addressed the particular issue.

IX Argument

This argument centers on four issues (A, B, C, and D) and other miscellaneous matters (E):

Issue A. Whether as a matter of law the manner in which the Complaint was brought against the Petitioner in this case violated Florida Statute 286.011 (public meetings law) and otherwise denied the Petitioner his due process rights guaranteed him by the Florida and U.S. Constitutions. When a disciplinary

committee of the Florida Bar met to decide whether to proceed with a general complaint filed with the bar by another Florida attorney, the committee met in private and specifically and emphatically prohibited Petitioner from attending the meeting. See Amended Notice of Review by a Grievance Committee at Exhibit C. When Plaintiff motioned to obtain a copy of the transcript of that meeting, he learned that the meeting had not been reported. It also appears no public notice of the meeting was ever made. This closed and unreviewable meeting of an agency of the judicial branch of the State of Florida is a violation of Fla Stat 286.011 which requires such meetings to be open to the public.

In this case, Petitioner had a particular reason to be present at the meeting and to know the contents of the meeting. Two grievance committee members, Messrs. Rodney Rich and Frederick J. Gant, Esquire, who had been assigned the duty of investigating the case for presentation of facts to the grievance committee for consideration, had been commanded to discuss with the Petitioner "the investigation, and disposition of the [informal] complaint as well as [Petitioner's] rights in such proceedings." See Exhibit D. Petitioner was to telephone Rich, and he did that, but Rich was not yet familiar with the matter and stated he would call Petitioner later after he had time to become familiar with the matter. Rich

never re-contacted with the Petitioner, and he never discussed the matters of the complaint filed with the Bar with the Petitioner. The grievance committee met and order Bar Counsel to prepare the Bar Complaint for filing with the Supreme Court.

Petitioner raised this issue in his "Corrected Motion to dismiss the Complaint" which was heard by the Referee on 14 November 2003. Exhibit E. The motion, along with all other motions, was denied.

The above wrongdoing by the Florida Bar is unlawful and denied Petitioner the process of law (procedures) that had been established for Petitioner's protection and which was due him. The Complaint in this case should be dismissed, and the Bar Member grievance committee members participating in the wrongdoing and initiating the complaint should be sanctioned by the Florida Supreme Court by an order to pay Petitioner his costs and a pro se attorney fee for his time expended responding to a complaint brought forward in an unfair manner.

Issue B. Whether as a matter of law the failure of the Complaint to connect allegations of Petitioner's conduct with particular alleged Bar Rule prohibitions caused the Complaint to be insufficient and thereby deny Petitioner due process of law.

Before Petitioner filed an answer to the Bar's Complaint, he filed a corrected second motion to dismiss based, in part, on the insufficiency of the complaint. The Referee denied it.

Petitioner's motion noted that the complaint failed to relate, or connect, the Petitioner's alleged law practice behavior, set out in the first 38 paragraphs of the complaint, to The Florida Bar Rules of Conduct identified (only by number and title) in paragraph 39 of the complaint as having been violated. Thus, the complaint failed to inform the Petitioner as to which alleged conduct was a violation of which alleged Bar Rule. This prevented petitioner from being informed and therefore from preparing an effective defense and receiving a fair hearing. This insufficiency of the Complaint was a denial of due process.

Issue C. Whether there is competent and sufficient evidence in the record to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Petitioner violated a Bar Rule when he relied on his own Pro Se protective order motions and 15 USC 1692c(c) for authority not to have to appear at depositions in aid of execution of a civil money judgment against him.

Neither the Bar Complaint nor the Referee's Report states the language of the any of the Bar Rules Petitioner allegedly violated. That deficit may be the reason for the error in the Bar's bringing the complaint in the first place and the Referee concluding in the second place that violations of the Bar Rules occurred. The rules which the Referee cited, but did not state, at the end of his report as being violated are reproduced here along with the official commentary:

Rule 4-3.1. Meritorious Claims and Contentions.

A lawyer shall not bring or defend a proceeding, or assert or controvert an issue therein, unless there is a basis for doing so that is not frivolous, which includes a good faith argument for an extension, modification, or reversal of existing law. A lawyer for the defendant in a criminal proceeding, or the respondent in a proceeding that could result in incarceration, may nevertheless so defend the proceeding as to require that every elopement of the case be established.

Comment.

The advocate has a duty to use legal procedure for the fullest benefit of the client's cause, but also a duty not to abuse legal procedure. The law, both procedural and substantive, establishes the limits within which an advocate may proceed. However, the law is not always clear and never is static. Accordingly, in determining the proper scope of advocacy, account must be taken of the law's ambiguous and potential for change.

The filing of an action or defense or similar action taken for a client is not frivolous merely because the facts have not first been fully substantiated or because the lawyer expects to develop vital evidence only by discovery. Such action is not frivolous even though the lawyer believes that the client's position ultimately will not prevail. The action is frivolous, however, if the client desires to have the action taken primarily for the purpose of harassing or maliciously injuring a person or if the lawyer is unable either to make a good faith

argument on the merits of the action taken or to support the action taken by a good faith argument for an extension, modification, or reversal of existing law.

Rule 4-3.4(c) & (d) Fairness to Opposing Counsel (part c).

A lawyer shall not:

. . . .

- (c) knowingly disobey an obligation under the rules of a tribunal except for an open refusal based on an assertion that no valid obligation exists.
- (d) in pretrial procedure, make a frivolous discovery request or intentionally fail to comply with a legally proper discovery request by an opposing party.

Comment.

The procedure of the adversary system contemplates that the evidence in a case is to be marshaled competitively by the contending parties. Fair competition in the adversary system is secured by prohibitions against destruction or concealment of evidence, improperly influencing witnesses, obstructive tactics in discovery procedure, and the like.

Documents and other items of evidence are often essential to establish a claim or defense. Subject to evidentiary privileges, the right of an opposing party, including the government, to obtain evidence through discovery or subpoena is an important procedural right. The exercise of that right can be frustrated if relevant material is altered, concealed, or destroyed. Applicable law in many jurisdictions makes in an offense to destroy material for the purpose of impairing its availability in a pending proceeding or one whose commencement can be foreseen. Falsifying evidence is also generally a criminal offense.

Rule 4-8.4(a) & (d). Misconduct.

A lawyer shall not:

(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another.

. . . .

(d) engage in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice, including to knowingly, or through callous indifference, disparage, humiliate, or discriminate against litigants, jurors, witnesses, court personnel, or other lawyers on any basis, including, but not limited to, on account of race, ethnicity, gender, religion, national origin, disability, marital status, sexual orientation, age socioeconomic status, employment, or physical characteristics.

When Petitioner filed motions for protective orders in order to prevent

Defendant consumer debt collector Guttmann from taking his deposition, he stated
therein proper legal reasons which granted him the privilege of not having to
submit to such depositions. The Referee has concluded that, notwithstanding the
filing of such motions, Petitioner should have appeared at the scheduled
depositions anyway. This does not make any sense, unless it is found that the
motions were not filed in good faith and were without proper legal foundation; and
there is no evidence of that, much less evidence that is clear and convincing.

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