# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	THE	FL	OR	IDA	BAR	
------------------	-----	----	----	-----	-----	--

Case Nos. SC03-1203

Complainant/Cross Petitioner,

v. TFB File No. 2002-01,100(1A)

BRUCE EDWARD COMMITTE,

Respondent/Petitioner
-----------------------

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF
AND CROSS PETITION FOR REVIEW

OLIVIA PAIVA KLEIN Bar Counsel, The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5845 Attorney Number 0970247

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel, The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5600 Attorney Number 253847

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida Bar contends that the report of referee should be adopted by the Court because there is ample support for the referee's findings of fact and determination of guilt. The Florida Bar's case rests on the official orders of Judge Roger Vinson the United States District Court for the Northern District of Florida, holding that Committe filed frivolous and nonmeritorious lawsuits in bad faith for the sole purpose of harassing Mr. Guttmann who was his opposing counsel in a county court debt collection case. After a thorough and detailed analysis of Committe's claims, as well as the relevant facts and case law, the federal judge *sua sponte* issued an Order to Show Cause why Rule 11 sanctions should not be imposed. Subsequently, the federal court imposed Rule 11 sanctions for Committe's "bad faith" pleadings and granted Mr. Guttmann's Motion to Tax Costs.

In the county court debt collection action, Committe abused the legal process by continually filing motions for protective order in county court to avoid appearing pursuant to three notices of deposition and subpoenas duces tecum. In the Escambia County Court, Judge George J. Roark issued numerous Orders denying Committe's repetitive motions for protective order, and ruled that the federal and state law on fair debt collection did not apply to discovery on a deposition in aid of execution of a

court judgment. On October 22, 1999, Judge Roark issued an Order Adjudicating Defendant (Committe) in Contempt of Court and Order of Commitment.

Despite the fact that Committe knew the federal and state law on debt collection did not apply to his county court case, he wrote a letter to Virginia attorney, William Gardner, and demanded that he withdraw Mr. Guttmann as attorney on the case, or he would take legal action against him. Subsequently, Committe made good on his threat and filed a multimillion dollar lawsuit against Mr. Gardner and Mr. Guttmann.

The Florida Bar cross petitions on the recommended discipline in the referee's report and the failure of the referee to award taxable costs to The Florida Bar. The Florida Bar maintains that a private reprimand is no longer a permissible discipline under the Rules, and an appropriate discipline would be 91-days under the circumstances of this case. Committe's actions are an egregious abuse of both the federal and state legal system, and, as a member of The Florida Bar, reflects poorly on the legal profession when a lawyer files frivolous lawsuits, continually fails to comply with discovery, and abuses legal process for his own selfish ends. Further, The Florida Bar contends that it is entitled to taxable costs under Rule 3-7.6(q) because it prevailed in the disciplinary case.

### LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. THE FINAL REPORT OF REFEREE SHOULD BE APPROVED AS TO THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND DETERMINATION OF GUILT BECAUSE IT IS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

The standard of review in attorney discipline cases is a well-established principle, i.e., that a referee's findings of fact enjoy a presumption of correctness that will be upheld unless the challenging party can show that the facts are unsupported by the evidence in the record, or are clearly erroneous. The Florida Bar v. Cox, 718 So. 2d 788, 792 (Fla. 1998): The Florida Bar v. McKenzie, 442 So. 2d 934 (Fla. 1983); see also, Rule 3-7.6(m)(1)(A). Moreover, the Court will not reweigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the referee if there is competent substantial evidence to support the referee's findings. See The Florida Bar v. Smith, 866 So. 2d 41, 45 (Fla. 2004); The Florida Bar v. MacMillan, 600 So. 2d 457, 459 (Fla. 1992), as cited in The Florida Bar v. Lecznar, 690 So. 2d 1284, 1287 (Fla. 1997). Further, "[t]he party contending that the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt are erroneous carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings, or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the The Florida Bar v. Spann, 682 So. 2d 1070, 1073 (Fla. 1996), citing conclusions." to The Florida Bar v. Miele, 605 So. 2d 866, 868 (Fla. 1992). See also The Florida

Bar v. Miller, 863 So. 2d 231, 234 (Fla. 2003) citing to The Florida Bar v. Vining, 761 So. 2d 1044, 1047 (Fla. 2000).

At the final hearing, The Florida Bar presented clear and convincing, oral and written evidence that supports a substantial competent substantial basis for the referee's findings of fact and determination of guilt. In this case, the findings of fact were based on competent substantial evidence from the oral testimony of Committe and Stephen Guttmann ("Mr. Guttmann") in the trial transcript and on the voluminous court pleadings on the state and federal level that supported The Florida Bar's allegations of misconduct. On the other hand, Committe has failed to meet his burden on appeal by showing that there is no evidence in the record to support the referee's findings of fact, or that the referee's findings of fact and conclusions of law are erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. See Rule 3-7.7(c)(5). For these reasons, the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt should be adopted *in toto* by the Court.

### **Standard of Review**

Committe mistakenly states that the "standard of review for this court is denovo [sic] in determining whether the Referee's Report on the Complaint...is lawful." See Initial Brief at p. 5. The law is well settled that Committe is not entitled to a trial *de novo* before this Court on the disputed issues of fact that were disposed of before the

referee. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Hooper</u>, 509 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1987), this Court clearly stated its "review of a referee's findings of fact is not in the nature of a trial *de novo* in which the Court must be satisfied that the evidence is clear and convincing. The responsibility for finding facts and resolving conflicts in the evidence is placed with the referee." <u>Id.</u> at p. 290. See also, <u>The Florida Bar v. Niles</u>, 644 So. 2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1994).

# <u>Issues Disputed by Committein the ROR</u>

Committe sets forth a "Statement of the Issues," a Summary of his "Issues" Argument, and then elaborates on these "Issues" in his section on "Argument." See Initial Brief at pp. 9, 11, and 13. As to Issues A and B, Committe raised similar arguments before the referee in his prehearing motions that were denied by the referee. See Hearing Transcript dated November 14, 2003, submitted to the referee for filing on December 5, 2003. As to Issues C and D, the state, federal and appellate court records, as well as the relevant statutes and case law, clearly support the referee's findings of fact and determination of guilt. The Florida Bar will address Committe's Issues A through D, as well as Issue E designated as a "Miscellaneous" argument.

# Issue A

# Section 286.011 is inapplicable and Committe was not denied due process

Committee claims that the grievance committee proceedings denied him due process because he was not allowed to personally appear, the "meeting was not noticed to others, nor was it open to the public, nor was the meeting reported so a transcript could be made" as required by Section 286.011, Fla. Stat. Initial Brief at p. 11. Committe's claims are without merit. Section 286.011, Fla. Stat., is not applicable to grievance committee procedures of The Florida Bar regarding its deliberations on disciplinary complaints, and Committe was not denied due process because he was not entitled to appear at a live hearing before the grievance committee under the Rules.

This Court has dealt with public records questions in the past and has amended the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar to clarify public access to records of the judicial branch and The Florida Bar. See In re: Amendments to the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration--Public Access to Judicial Records. In re: Amendments to the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar-Public Records, 608 So. 2d 472 (Fla. 1992). All the records of the judiciary are public except those exempted by Court rule or those exempted by the legislature. Id. Recently, the Court considered further changes to the confidentiality Rule clarifying what Bar records were public information. See

Amendment to the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, SC03-705 (May 20, 2004), specifically the changes to Rule 3-7.1.

Pursuant to court rule, a disciplinary matter before a grievance committee is Rule 3-7.1(a)(1). It becomes a public record after the grievance confidential. committee makes its final determination. See Rules 3-7.1 (a) (1), (2), (3), (4), (5), 3-7.1(b). The grievance committee record is defined in Rule 3-7.4(1) that also permits the grievance committee to retire into private session to debate the issues and reach a decision in a disciplinary case, even when a court reporter is present. Further, there is no rule requiring the investigating member to contact the attorney under investigation by the grievance committee and to advise him of his rights. Due process in a disciplinary proceeding requires that the attorney be served with notice of the disciplinary charges brought against him and be afforded an opportunity to be heard to defend himself. See The Florida Bar v. Rubin, 709 So. 2d 1361(Fla.1998). Rule 3-7.4(h) does not require that Commite be given an opportunity to present live testimony. <u>Id</u>. at 1363. Committe was properly noticed two times of the grievance committee's hearing dates before the scheduled review of his case, including the possible rule violations that were to be considered at the hearing. See Exhibits B and C to "The Florida Bar's Reply In Opposition To Respondent's Corrected Second Motion to Dismiss the Complaint." The Amended Notice of Review lists Committe's written statement to the grievance committee submitted on October 8, 2002 before the final hearing date.

The Notice of Finding of Probable Cause for Further Disciplinary Proceedings was sent to Committe and specifically advised him of the rule violations. Subsequent to the finding of probable cause, Committe received notice and opportunity to be heard before a referee on the same issues before being found guilty of the Rules violations. For the above reasons, Committe cannot now complain that he was denied due process under Section 286.011 or The Florida Bar Rules during the grievance committee proceedings.

# **Issue B**

# The Florida Bar's Complaint was sufficient and did not deny Committe due process of law.

Committe's argument that the insufficiency of The Florida Bar's Complaint denied him due process of law is frivolous and without merit. Rule 3-7.6 (g)(1) states that pleadings may be informal and should contain "the particular act or acts of conduct for which the attorney is sought to be disciplined."

The Florida Bar's Complaint clearly set forth the unethical acts by Committe in paragraphs 2 through 38, and referred to specific misconduct in violation of the ethical rules in paragraphs 27, 28, 29, 35, 36, 37, and 38, in conjunction with the exhibits attached to the Complaint. There is no requirement in The Florida Bar Rules to tie

each and every allegation of a disciplinary complaint to a specific rule violation. Indeed, Respondent's filing of frivolous state and federal lawsuits, and thwarting the civil rules of discovery are clearly ethical violations contained in the Rules cited in paragraph 39 of The Florida Bar's Complaint. As a member of The Florida Bar, Committe is also presumed to know and understand the ethical rules. Rule 3-4.1. See also <u>Visible Difference</u>, <u>Inc. v. The Velvet Swing</u>, 862 So. 2d 753, 755 (4th DCA 2003)(criteria for sufficiency of complaint). The Florida Bar is not required to plead every evidentiary fact, but only give sufficient notice to the opposing party of what is alleged and the relief that is being sought.

Committe's claim of violation of due process relating to the sufficiency of The Florida Bar's Complaint is also without merit. Reasonable notice is all that is required to afford due process in a disciplinary proceeding. See Rule 3-7.11(c); see also Rubin, *supra* at 1363; The Florida Bar v. Daniel, 626 So. 2d 178, 183 (Fla. 1993); The Florida Bar v. Carricarte, 733 So. 2d 975, 978-979 (Fla. 1999). Committe was not prejudiced because he conducted discovery and had the opportunity to be heard before the referee found he violated the Rules.

# **Issues C and D**

For the sake of clarity, The Florida Bar will deal with these two issues together because a discussion of the applicable federal statutes and case law is a prerequisite to understanding Issue C.

Committe's filing of a federal lawsuit against Mr. Guttmann was frivolous because there was no good faith basis on the facts or in law, nor was there a good faith basis for an extension, modification, or reversal of existing law.

Judge Vinson's Order Granting Summary Judgment, and imposing Rule 11 sanctions, the decision of the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, the plain language of the FDCPA and FCCPA, as well as the prevailing case law at the time Committe filed his two federal lawsuits, support the referee's finding that Committe violated Rule 4-3.1.

# A. <u>Judge Vinson's Orders</u>

First, the referee properly found that Committe violated Rule 4-3.1 for the reasons stated in Judge Roger Vinson's Order Granting Summary Judgment to Mr. Guttmann in the federal case of <u>Bruce Edward Committee v. Stephen M. Guttmann</u>, U.S. D. Ct. Case No. 3:99cv426/RV. TFB-Exhibit 22. Second, Committe had no statutory basis to support the filing of the lawsuit. An examination of the statutory provisions of the FDCPA and FCCPA shows that Mr. Guttmann was entitled to take Committe's deposition in aide of execution, propose a settlement of Committe's

case, and use substituted service of process in a county court case under the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. None of Mr. Guttmann's actions violated the FDCPA or the FCCPA. R Exhibits 1 and 2. Finally, Committe has held himself out as a practicing attorney since 1994 with expertise in representing clients who are plaintiff debtors bringing lawsuits based on the FDCPA and FCCPA. He knew at the time he filed the lawsuit against Mr. Guttmann that the prevailing case law did not prevent an attorney from pursuing postjudgment judicial remedies against a debtor. See "The Florida Bar's Closing Argument" submitted to the referee on January 22, 2004.

Judge Vinson's's Order Granting Summary Judgment, and his subsequent Orders imposing Rule 11 sanctions supports the referee's finding that Committe filed a frivolous lawsuit asserting claims of fact and law that were nonmeritorious. In the federal case, Judge Vinson held that Committe "failed to allege facts to reasonably support any of his claims," and since none of the alleged actions by Mr. Guttmann were prohibited by the FDCPA or FCCPA, Committe's actions were "utterly without merit." TFB-Exhibit 22 at p. 8. Judge Vinson determined that Committe had no reasonable good faith basis in law or fact for bringing a lawsuit against Mr. Guttmann grounded on violations of the FDCPA or FCCPA.

Specifically, as to Committe's first federal claim of violation of the "cease communication" rule of the FDCPA, Judge Vinson concluded that Mr. Guttmann's

settlement offer was proper as an integral part of the litigation process, and Committe's assertion that it was an offer to "sell out" his clients was "totally without merit." TFB-Exhibit 22 at p. 9. At the final hearing in this matter, Mr. Guttmann testified that the encounter with Committe lasted only a few minutes, and Committe testified that as soon as Mr. Guttmann offered to settle, he "bolted out of there and left." T-68.

Committe's second federal claim was that substituted service of process of a motion for contempt in Escambia County Court that was received by Committe's father violated the third party communication rule of the FDCPA. Judge Vinson reasoned that the FDCPA specifically excluded actions "reasonably necessary to effectuate a postjudgment judicial remedy," and Florida law permitted substitute service of process. See 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(b). Judge Vinson therefore held "In light of *clearly established law*, this is a frivolous allegation." TFB-Exhibit 22 at p. 10.(Emphasis added).

Committe also claimed that Mr. Guttmann violated the FDCPA by attempting to collect a debt during a period of time when the debt had been transferred to another debt collector who had not specifically authorized him to collect on Committe's debt. Committe never submitted any proof that Mr. Guttmann had ever been notified of the transfer or that he was advised to stop his collection efforts. Judge Vinson dismissed

Committe's claim of "false, deceptive, misleading representation" under the FDCPA as having no reasonable basis in fact or law. TFB-Exhibit 22 at p. 11.

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